
Civil Aviation Authority

The Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) has announced
plans to start discussions about introducing a new
ATOL Certificate, to be provided uniformly to every
customer who books an ATOL-protected holiday,
guaranteeing that in the event their tour operator
ceases trading they will be looked after by the CAA
if they are abroad or refunded by ATOL if they
haven't yet travelled.

The ATOL Certificate would be a simple document in
a standard format across the ATOL licensed industry,
clearly setting out what is protected by ATOL, and
replacing the existing complex range of paperwork
holidaymakers are currently given when they book.

The CAA began discussions with ATOL holders and
consumer representatives about the certificate at
The Travel Convention in Malta, with a view to
setting up a working group to get industry and
consumer expertise before consulting on the
proposal. The timing of the introduction of the
certificate will be an important decision for the
working group, but the CAA is starting work now to
allow introduction as early as possible given the
inevitable lead-in times to allow the industry to
change their systems.

David Moesli, Deputy Director of the Consumer
Protection Group at CAA said: “The holiday failures
this summer showed that a lot of consumers are left
confused and frustrated when tour operators cease
trading, thanks in no small part to the poor standard

of documentation in the travel industry, particularly
amongst travel agents.

"Introducing the ATOL Certificate would mean that
the second someone books a holiday they receive a
single document that sets out what is protected by
ATOL and guarantees they can finish their holiday or
get their money back if their operator fails.

“A standardised certificate which is received by
everyone who books an ATOL-protected holiday
telling them exactly what is and is not covered will
go a long way towards helping people understand
their protection arrangements. In the future, people
will come to expect to receive a Certificate in the
same way you expect to receive a ticket, and they
will take it overseas with them like a passport or
medical card, to make sure they receive protection
under ATOL.”

Aviation Minister Theresa Villiers said:

"Today's holiday market looks very different to how
it did when the ATOL scheme was originally intro-
duced. As a result, it can be difficult for
holiday-makers to know whether their trip is
protected by the ATOL scheme.

"This excellent initiative is an important milestone in
our journey to providing a scheme fit for the future.
Alongside this new certificate, we are actively
working on wider reforms to ATOL to make it more
suitable for the diverse 21st century holiday market." 

(Source: CAA, 19 October)
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THE DIGEST

NEWS AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN LAW AND PRACTICE 
IN THE TRAVEL INDUSTRY



AUC

The Air Transport Users Council (AUC) has published
its Annual Report for 2009/10. The report covers the
AUC’s activities over the past year.

The AUC reports that it received 14,503 complaints
and enquiries, an increase of 7% on the previous
year. But the recent disruption to air travel due to
volcanic ash fell outside the reporting year. In the
first quarter after the end of the reporting year
complaints and enquiries have more than doubled,
largely due to the ash crisis. In the period April to
June, the AUC received 7519 complaints and
enquiries compared to 3086 for the same quarter
the year before.

Also in the report, AUC Chairman Tina Tietjen refers
in her introduction to the major distraction
throughout the year of ongoing discussions about a
proposal for air passenger representation to be
transferred to Passenger Focus. On the decision not
to implement the proposal, Ms Tiejen said:

“We are pleased that since the reporting year ended,
the Government decided not to proceed with the
previous administration’s proposal for air passenger
representation to be transferred to Passenger Focus,
the rail and bus passenger body. The challenge is now
for the AUC, together with the CAA and Department
for Transport, to come up with a suitable framework
for air passenger representation that will meet the
challenges ahead.” 

(Source: AUC, 10 August)

Department for Transport

As part of its Business Plan for 2011-2015 the DfT
has stated that it intends to implement any changes
to the ATOL protection system for passengers by
April 2003, including legislation if necessary. 

(Source: DfT 8 November)

Foreign and Commonwealth
Office

The FCO has warned of an increased risk of piracy in
the Seychelles. It has advised against against all
leisure boating and yachting activities within the
Seychelles Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) beyond
twenty miles of the inner granitic islands due to the
increased risk. However, travel by air to these
islands, and land based tourism is currently
unaffected.

The FCO states that piracy is a significant threat in
the Gulf of Aden and the Indian Ocean and has
occurred as far as 1000 nautical miles from the
coast of Somalia.

Sailing vessels are particularly vulnerable to attack.
All mariners intending to sail through high risk areas
are advised to consider the necessity of their travel
and alternatives, such as transporting the vessel by
yacht carrier. 

(Source: FCO, 1 October 2010)

Office of Fair Trading

The OFT has launched a formal investigation into
alleged price fixing in the online sale of hotel rooms.
The OFT said it will be looking into alleged breaches
in competition law, but that its investigations are
still in the early stages.The investigation has been
triggered by a complaint from a discount website,
Skoosh.com. It reported that it was being put under
pressure to offer rooms at a standard price. "We
were openly discounting and hotels would email,
call and threaten legal action. Either we'd have to
raise prices or take the hotels off our list," said
Dorian Harris from Skoosh. 

Within the travel business the practice of keeping
prices at a pre-set level is talked about openly and is
called "rate parity". The effect is that a customer
might look at several websites and see the same
prices advertised. And where there is very little
variation in prices, a website can claim, truthfully,
that its prices are the "cheapest".
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Hotels sell some of their rooms direct to the
customer, but to keep their occupancy rates as high
as possible, they use online booking firms and sell
any spare capacity through room wholesalers. The
wholesalers can pass the rooms on to travel agents,
or offload them to discount websites such as
Skoosh. If the Office of Fair Trading finds that there
have been breaches of the Competition Act, it can
impose penalties of up to 10% of a company's
turnover.

Below is an open letter sent by Dorian Harris of
Skoosh, and published on his blog, to Kees Koolen,
CEO at Booking.com which provides some
background to the complaint:

“Hi Kees,

Both personally, and even as a direct competitor, I
was always a fan of Booking.com. Yours was one of
the better hotel booking sites I always thought, with
some innovative features. However, my rosy picture
fast disappeared last winter when Skoosh started
being pursued by your business partners insisting
that we raise our hotel prices to the same as yours.
I’m hoping you can find the time to address some of
the points below and restore my faith in your
company.

Some background then. Earlier this year we started
getting some calls from angry and confused hoteliers
insisting that we were selling their rooms too
cheaply. I called them back to work out what was
going on and they mostly told me that Booking.com
had been on to them threatening all sorts of
nonsense if they didn’t either remove their hotels
from Skoosh or force Skoosh to raise its prices.

I wondered how this was all happening so quickly
and then I did a little research and found that
Booking.com has an active policy of maintaining the
same prices for all companies across the internet. I
even found a job ad of yours looking for ‘Rate Parity
Associates’. It seems like you’ve got a whole team out
there beavering away to ‘find any rate inconsisten-
cies between Booking.com and their competitors.’
They’re doing a good job I have to say. The hoteliers
you work with are certainly concerned. One wrote to
ask me to close out their hotel on Skoosh, ‘just to

avoid the penalty that [Booking.com] is threatening
us about’.

Some were less friendly. Many of the hoteliers wrote
letters to me threatening legal action. One of them
had a colleague of yours on one line and me on the
other. It seemed that your colleague was insisting
that if we hadn’t removed their hotel from Skoosh by
the end of the phone call Booking.com would cancel
the contract with them. They were very scared.

I wasn’t so much concerned as confused. I know that
companies can do pretty much what they like with
their buying prices but the rules around selling prices
are quite tight. I’m no lawyer but I did some reading
here and there, went to the odd conference on
competition law and spoke to a few competition
lawyers. They warned me to be very careful because
if Skoosh is seen to be involved in price fixing we
could be liable for a huge fine (10% of our world-
wide turnover – I didn’t fancy that!).

So I took all this to various competition bureaus: The
European Commission, the Office of Fair Trading here
in London, and your own Netherlands Competition
Authority. They were all confused as to why it’s in
Booking.com’s interest to ensure that all companies
are selling hotels at the same price. On the face of it,
it looks like competition is being taken out of the
market and it’s making the hotel booking industry
rather flat and dull.

I’m sure you have got good reasons for all this so I
thought rather than puzzle away myself or wait for
my case to reach the top of the pile at the competi-
tion bureaus, I could just ask you directly. I realise
you may not want to comment directly on my blog
but you can email me through my website or call if
you prefer. Of course you’re not obliged to reply to
me or say anything but, as a one-time fan of
Booking.com I’d very much like this matter cleared
up so I can go on recommending your site to friends
and family.

Cheers,
Dorian Harris
Director, Skoosh.com”

(Source: BBC; Skoosh; The Register; OFT;

Cheaphotelbookings.com)



Australian Competition and
Consumer Commission

The Australian Federal Court has ordered two
restaurants to pay a penalty of $13,200 each for
breaching the all-inclusive pricing law on their
menus. The orders were made by consent after the
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
took action against Helmos Enterprises (NSW) Pty
Ltd, trading as Georges Bar and Grill, and Gourmet
Goody's Family Restaurant Pty Ltd, trading as
Steersons Steakhouse.

The ACCC alleged that the menus failed to tell
customers the full price they would pay on a Sunday
or a public holiday, relying instead on a qualification
indicating the application of a percentage
surcharge. To know the true charge, customers
would have to add the surcharge on such days.

"This is the first time that the court has ordered civil
penalties, which began operation in April this year,
and follows the ACCC's first use of Infringement
Notices under new provisions of the Australian
Consumer Law," ACCC chairman Graeme Samuel said.
"The use of these new powers has been instrumental
in ensuring that restaurants and cafes are aware of
their obligations under the Act, and spreading the
word that, by failing to comply, they will be running
the gauntlet of the ACCC's patience."

The court declared, by consent, that Georges Bar and
Grill, and Steersons Steakhouse, breached section
53C of the Trade Practices Act 1974. This section
requires businesses that show a part of the price
payable for a product or service, must also provide
the single total price of that product or service.

Earlier this year the ACCC surveyed a number of
cafés and restaurants and found a number of menus
did not comply with section 53C. Infringement
Notices were issued to those cafés that did not
correct their menus after an ACCC warning.
Proceedings were instituted against traders that did
not pay the Infringement Notice penalty of $6,600.

(Source : Australian Competition and 

Consumer Commission, 4 November)

ECC Net 

According to the European Consumer Centres’
Network, in their Fifth Anniversary report 2005 –
2009, Transport remains the number one problem
sector for consumers.

In 2009, European consumers’ biggest cross border
problem areas related to transport, recreation and
culture, and accommodation services. These three
big sectors accounted for just over 70 % of all
complaints.

The transport sector triggered 30.6% of all
complaints in 2009 and has been the biggest sector
for complaints since the creation of the network.
The Air Passengers’ Rights Regulation came into
force in 2005 and has had a positive impact on the
outcome of complaints within the sector although
the number of complaints is continuously increasing
as the ECC-Net becomes more known to consumers.

Regarding recreational and cultural services, the
number of complaints increased slightly in 2009 in
comparison with 2008. Figures for complaints about
accommodation services remained steady in 2009.

Out of the 30.6% of complaints related to services
within the transport sector, 75.6% concerned air
transport. Out of these 75.6%, luggage-related
complaints (loss, damage or delay) accounted for
only 20.8 %, while complaints regarding the
Regulation on air passenger rights represented
79.2%. 

(Source: European Commission’s Directorate-General 

for Health and Consumers. http://ec.europa.eu/consumers/

ecc/docs/5th_anniversary_report_2005-2009_en.pdf)

EuroSafe

At the start of the new skiing season, EuroSafe, a
non-governmental organisation, representing
organisations and individuals working to prevent
injury and to promote safety, has launched a
campaign promoting helmets wearing on slopes by
issuing a policy briefing on snow helmets. It includes
the following statistics:
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• It is estimated that in the entire EU-region
there are each year 300,000 snow sport related
injuries that require medical treatment in
hospital, including 170,000 ski injuries and
90,000 snowboard injuries. 

• Children and young people are more at risk.
There is no major difference in injury risks
between snowboarders and skiers. More than
50% of all severe and fatal injuries in snow
sports are head injuries. 

• As other types of injuries in snow sports are
decreasing, such as knee injuries owing to
better binding systems, head injuries in snow
sports are taking a larger share in the total
number of snow sport injuries. 

• Snow sports helmets, if worn properly, will
reduce the impact of a collision or crash and
thus reduce the severity of injury outcome.
Various studies indicate that helmets will reduce
the risk of head injury by 21% up to 45% . 

• Fortunately, helmet wearing rates are increas-
ing: Germany, Austria and Switzerland are
respectively reporting 40%, 63%, 76% helmet
wearing rates now. Switzerland is even report-
ing a 95% helmet wearing rate among children.

(Source: EuroSafe, 3 November, 2010)

US Department of Justice

The Department of Justice has amended its regula-
tion implementing title II of the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), which applies to public
entities. These revisions take effect on March 15,
2011. One of the changes relates to the use of
service animals. The rule defines "service animal" as
a dog that has been individually trained to do work
or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual
with a disability. The rule states that other animals,
whether wild or domestic, do not qualify as service
animals. Dogs that are not trained to perform tasks
that mitigate the effects of a disability, including
dogs that are used purely for emotional support, are
not service animals. The final rule also clarifies that
individuals with mental disabilities who use service

animals that are trained to perform a specific task
are protected by the ADA. The rule permits the use
of trained miniature horses as alternatives to dogs,
subject to certain limitations. To allow flexibility in
situations where using a horse would not be appro-
priate, the final rule does not include miniature
horses in the definition of "service animal."

Another change involves the sale of tickets for
accessible seating, the sale of season tickets, the hold
and release of accessible seating to persons other
that those who need accessible seating, ticket
pricing, prevention of the fraudulent purchase of
accessible seating, and the ability to purchase multi-
ple tickets when buying accessible seating. It requires
a venue operator to accommodate an individual with
a disability who acquired inaccessible seating on the
secondary ticket market only when there is unsold
accessible seating for that event.

(Source: US Department of Justice, 7 October 2010)

Department of Transportation

The US Department of Transportation (DOT) has
assessed a civil penalty of $100,000 against Delta Air
Lines for failing to comply with the Department’s
minimum baggage liability rule. An investigation by
DOT’s Aviation Enforcement Office found that Delta
earlier this year had distributed a pamphlet to
consumers stating that the carrier would not
reimburse passengers’ expenses for delayed baggage
if the bags were expected to reach the passenger
within 24 hours. The pamphlet also said the carrier
would limit reimbursements for passengers’ necessi-
ties to $25 per day after the first 24 hours the bags
were missing, with a maximum payment of $125,
while a passenger is away from his or her residence.
The Department’s investigation determined that a
significant number of consumers were denied full
reimbursement for claims based on that policy. This
violated the Department’s rule which prohibits carri-
ers from limiting their liability for provable damages
for lost, damaged or delayed baggage to less than
$3,300 per passenger. The penalty follows an Oct. 9,
2009 guidance document issued by the Enforcement
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Office advising the airline industry that a number of
carriers were improperly limiting reimbursements for
mishandled baggage and that the Department
would take enforcement action against airlines that
did not correct their baggage compensation policies. 

(Source: DOT, 29 October, 2010)

Department of Transportation 

The US DOT has imposed a civil penalty of $20,000
on Lion World Travel Ltd. d/b/a South African
Airways Vacations for violating 49 U.S.C. § 41712
and 14 CFR Part 399 in its internet advertising.

An Enforcement Office investigation found that, for
a period of time in 2010, SAAV advertised numerous
tour “specials” on its Internet website that included
an air component and stated a price, but did not
disclose at the first point where that price was
stated the existence and amount of applicable taxes
and fees, one of which was the September 11th
Security Fee. Rather, this information was disclosed
on a subsequent webpage. Furthermore, SAAV did
not include a carrier-imposed fuel surcharge in the
advertised base prices, instead including it with the
government-imposed per person taxes and fees that
were additional to the base prices. Failing to provide
proper notice of those taxes and fees that may
legally be stated separately from the base price and
failing to include carrier-imposed fees in the stated
price violates 14 CFR 399.80(f) and 399.84, and 49
U.S.C. § 41712. Moreover, SAAV’s failure to specifi-
cally identify in the required manner that the
September 11th Security Fee was among the
additional taxes and fees constitutes a separate and
distinct violation of section 41712.

(Source: Department of Transportation, 3 September, 2010)

Federal Trade Commission.
Timeshare Fraud

At the Federal Trade Commission’s request, a federal
district court has put a stop to a deceptive telemar-
keting operation that allegedly scammed millions of

dollars from property owners hoping to sell their
timeshares. The FTC charged that the ring, operating
out of South Florida, conned consumers by promis-
ing that they had buyers lined up and waiting. Only
after making a hefty up-front payment did the
consumers learn that there were no buyers, and that
it was nearly impossible to get their money back
from the defendants, many of whom have long
criminal histories.

The case is part of an ongoing FTC effort to crack
down on con artists who use fraud and deception to
take advantage of consumers hit hard by the recent
economic downturn. Many of the defrauded
consumers needed to sell their timeshares to help
pay their living expenses. According to the FTC, the
number of complaints related to fraudulent
timeshare resales has more than tripled over the
past three years, as more consumers have attempted
to sell their timeshares.

In this case, the defendants allegedly defrauded
consumers nationwide out of millions of dollars
before being shuttered by the court. They also are
well known to the South Florida Better Business
Bureau (BBB) which, together with the FTC and the
Florida Attorney General’s Office, has received
hundreds of complaints from consumers about their
conduct. The BBB has given the firm, Timeshare
Mega Media and Marketing Group, an F rating, the
lowest rating it can give a business.

According to the FTC’s complaint, Timeshare Mega
Media, two related companies, and six individuals
used a telemarketing boiler room in Ft. Lauderdale,
Florida. They told timeshare owners who were
attempting to sell their units that a buyer was lined
up and a deal had been negotiated on their behalf,
but that before the sale could be completed,
consumers would have to pay an up-front fee,
usually $1,996, by credit card.

The FTC’s complaint charges that Timeshare Mega
Media’s representatives typically claimed the fee was
for sale-related costs, such as realtor fees, closing
costs, title searches, or document processing. They
also told consumers that this fee would be refunded
at closing. In some cases, if a consumer owned an
expensive timeshare, the fee could be more than
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$1,996, ranging up to 10 percent of the asking price.
Consumers also were told that their timeshare sales
would close quickly, often in as few as 30 days.

The FTC alleges that, after the consumers paid the
fee, they were told to expect a contract from
Timeshare Mega Media. What they received turned
out to be a contract to market and advertise their
timeshare, and not a sales contract. According to the
FTC’s complaint, many consumers signed and
returned the contract thinking it was a sales
contract. Those who questioned its validity were
given the run-around by the company and falsely
told that a sales contract would follow. In fact,
according to the agency, the company never had
any timeshare buyers lined up. When consumers
discovered this and demanded their money back,
they found it nearly impossible to get a refund, or
even get a call back.

The complaint was filed on October 19, 2010, in the
US District Court for the Southern District of Florida
in Ft. Lauderdale. The court entered a temporary
restraining order against the defendants on October
20, 2010.

(Source: Federal Trade Commission. 29 October 2010)

Canadian Transportation Agency
Ruling: Catherine Matchett v
Sunwing Airlines Inc

Catherine Matchett filed a complaint with the
Canadian Transportation Agency with respect to the
refusal by Sunwing Airlines Inc. to transport her on
Flight WG511 from Toronto, Ontario, Canada to
Cancun, Mexico, on February 8, 2010, because of
alleged prohibited conduct.

When Ms Matchett checked in, Yasir Eisa, a Sunwing
employee at the check-in counter, thought Ms
Matchett smelled of alcohol. He expressed concern
to Aneta Raczynska, the Sunwing supervisor on duty
at the check-in area. Ms Raczynska advised Ms
Matchett to get a coffee and something to eat and
that her condition would be further assessed at the
boarding gate. Ms Raczynska briefed Bea Perri, the

other supervisor on shift.

At the end of the boarding process, Ms Perri met
with Ms Matchett and decided to refuse her trans-
portation as she was concerned about the safety of
Ms Matchett and the remaining passengers and
crew.

Ms Matchett and her travelling companion
purchased replacement tickets for Air Canada's
Flight AC1256. Ms Matchett requested a reimburse-
ment for these tickets and for the taxi fare from the
Cancun airport to the resort, and expected to
receive compensation for having lost a full day of
vacation.

In its response, Sunwing filed a copy of the "Quality
Control Message" (QCM) report prepared after the
incident occurred, as well as detailed written state-
ments by its employees: Mr. Eisa, Ms Raczynska and
Ms Perri. Sunwing submitted that during the
conversation between Ms Raczynska and Ms
Matchett, the latter admitted that she had been
drinking. Sunwing added that when Ms Perri met Ms
Matchett at the boarding gate, she asked her if she
had been drinking and Ms Matchett responded in
the affirmative.

Sunwing indicated that Ms Perri reported that as
departure time approached, Ms Matchett was paged
several times at the boarding gate and that when
she arrived, she was incoherent and was weaving,
stumbling and slurring her words. As Ms Perri
concluded that she was intoxicated and might
disrupt the flight, she refused transportation to Ms
Matchett.

Although Ms Matchett did not specifically deny that
she was under the influence of alcohol, she denied
that she was weaving, stumbling and slurring her
words. She also submitted that she was never paged
as she had arrived at the boarding gate well before
the departure time of Flight WG511. Finally, Ms
Matchett submitted that at no time was there any
indication that Air Canada had any issue with her
boarding the replacement flight.

On the basis of these submissions the Agency found
that Ms Matchett failed to discharge her burden of
proof that, on a balance of probabilities, Sunwing



did not properly apply the terms and conditions of
its Tariff when it refused her transportation on
February 8, 2010. The Agency therefore dismissed
the complaint.

(Source: CTA, September 17, 2010)

Canadian Transportation Agency.
Nut Allergy Decision

The CTA, in response to issues raised by passengers,
has finalised its findings of appropriate accommo-
dation for persons with disabilities due to their
allergy to peanuts or nuts, when at least 48-hour
advance notice is provided by such person to Air
Canada, as follows:

(1) Air Canada will create a buffer zone as follows
for the passenger with a disability due to
allergy to peanuts or nuts:

(i) for international wide-body aircraft
executive class seating, the buffer zone
will consist of the pod-seat occupied by
the person with a disability due to their
allergy to peanuts or nuts.

(ii) for North American business class seating,
the buffer zone will consist of the bank of
seats in which the person with a disability
due to their allergy to peanuts or nuts is
seated.

(iii) for economy class seating, the buffer zone
will consist of the bank of seats in which
the person with a disability due to their
allergy to peanuts or nuts is seated, and
the banks of seats directly in front of and
behind the person. In areas where a
bulkhead is either directly in front of or
behind the bank of seats in which the
person with a disability due to their allergy
to peanuts or nuts is seated, the buffer
zone will consist of the bulkhead, together
with the bank of seats in which the person
is sitting and the bank of seats directly in
front of or behind the person (depending
on the location of the bulkhead).

(2) only peanut-free and nut-free foods will be
served by Air Canada as part of its onboard
snack or meal service within the buffer zone.

(3) a briefing will be given by Air Canada personnel
to passengers within the buffer zone that they
can only eat foods that are peanut-free and
nut-free and that they will only be offered
peanut-free and nut-free foods as part of Air
Canada's onboard snack or meal service. In
addition, Air Canada personnel is to address
situations where a passenger refuses to comply
with this requirement by moving the non-
obliging passenger or, if necessary due to that
passenger's refusal to move, moving the person
with the disability due to their allergy to
peanuts or nuts to a seat where the buffer zone
can be established.

(Source: CTA, October 19, 2010)

ECJ. Reference for a preliminary
ruling. Latvia.

A reference for a preliminary ruling in the case of
Eglïtis and Ratnieks v Ekonomikas Ministrija (Case
C-294/10) has been made to the European Court of
Justice. 

The questions referred are:

1. Is Article 5(3) of Regulation (EC) No 261/2004
of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 11 February 2004 establishing common rules
on compensation and assistance to passengers
in the event of denied boarding and of cancel-
lation or long delay of flights, and repealing
Regulation (EEC) No 295/91, to be interpreted
as meaning that an air carrier is required, in
order to be found to have taken all reasonable
measures to avoid extraordinary circumstances,
to organise its resources in good time so that it
is possible to operate a programmed flight once
the unforeseen extraordinary circumstances
have ceased to obtain, that is to say, during a
certain period following the scheduled depar-
ture time?
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2. If the first question is answered in the affirma-
tive, does Article 6(1) of Regulation No
261/2004 apply for the purpose of determining
the minimum ‘reserve time’ which the air
carrier, when organising its resources at the
appropriate time, must provide for as a possible
foreseeable delay in the event that extraordi-
nary circumstances arise?

ECJ. Reference for a preliminary
ruling. Spain.

A reference for a preliminary ruling in the case of
Aurora Sousa Rodriguez y otros v Air France SA
(Case C-83/10) has been made to the European
Court of Justice. 

The questions referred are:

1. Is the term ‘cancellation’, defined in Article 2(l)
of [Regulation EC No 261/2004], to be inter-
preted as meaning only the failure of the flight
to depart as planned or is it also to be inter-
preted as meaning any circumstance as a result
of which the flight on which places are
reserved takes off but fails to reach its destina-
tion, including the case in which the flight is
forced to return to the airport of departure for
technical reasons?

2. Is the term ‘further compensation’ used in
Article 12 of the regulation to be interpreted as
meaning that, in the event of a cancellation,
the national court may award compensation for
damage, including non-material damage, for
breach of a contract of carriage by air in accor-
dance with rules established in national
legislation and case-law on breach of contact
or, on the contrary, must such compensation
relate solely to appropriately substantiated
expenses incurred by passengers and not
adequately indemnified by the carrier in accor-
dance with the requirements of Articles 8 and 9
of Regulation 261/2004/EC, even if such provi-
sions have not been expressly relied upon or,
lastly, are the two aforementioned definitions

of the term further compensation compatible
one with another? 

2010 EU sweep on tickets for
cultural and sporting events 

27 EU Member States plus Norway and Iceland
participated in the fourth EU led Sweep investiga-
tion to check websites selling tickets for cultural and
sporting events for compliance with EU consumer
rules. Co-ordinated by the European Commission,
the simultaneous check was carried out between
31st May and 4th June 2010 by the enforcement
authorities.

Of 414 sites checked, 247 were flagged for further
investigation to verify if they were in breach of EU
consumer rules. 188 were national cases, 59 were
cross border cases. These cases will be followed up
by national enforcement authorities to verify.

Online sales of tickets for cultural and sporting
events were picked for the fourth sweep because
people are using the internet more and more to
check their entertainment options - to see what's
on, when it's on, and to compare prices and offers
for the best deals or the deal that suits them best. In
2009, about 35% of EU consumers who ever
purchased anything online bought tickets either for
a cultural or sporting event. This trend results in
better deals and more choice for many buyers. But
one of the consequences is also a large number of
consumer complaints in this product category. The
European Consumer Centres (ECCs) report that 30%
of the complaints about online shopping which they
handled concerned Recreation and Culture services,
of which Cultural and Sport Events form a great
part (2009 data). These were the key reasons why
the network of national enforcement authorities
(CPC) decided to pick this product category for their
present joint exercise.

The sites that were targeted were those selling
tickets for cultural events – i.e. concert, movies,
theatre plays, and for sporting events –football
matches, Formula 1 races.



The network of national enforcement authorities
agreed the following checklist before the sweep and
was used by all participating countries to check
websites during the sweep.

• Information about the trader

1. Are the name, geographical address and e-mail
address of the trader provided?

• Information about the offer

2. Is there clear information about the main charac-
teristics of the product?

3. Does the price include taxes?

4. Is the consumer provided with information on
payment and delivery arrangements?

• Misleading practices 

6. Is the information about the trader misleading?

7. Is the information about the main characteristics
of the product misleading?

8. Is the presentation of the final price to pay the
same as stated in the information provided before
the purchase?

• Unfair Terms and Conditions

9. Does the website contain any unfair Terms and
Conditions?

9a. Are the Terms and Conditions drafted in a plain
and intelligible language?

(Brussels, 16 September 2010)
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